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The Limekiln Tenement 

was the name given to the 

property at Rookery 

Bridge with land bound by 

the Trent and Mersey 

Canal and Red Lane. It is 

now known as Rose 

Cottage, Red Lane. 

At the time, the property 
was recorded as under the 
occupation of George 
Latham though the lease 
was in the name of 
Martha Bratherton who 
paid an annual rent of £12 
12s 
 
George had married 
Martha’s daughter Jane in 
1829 at which time it 
comprised of 8 acres as 
opposite. The small plot to 
the right of the property 
contained a weighbridge. 

 

 

National Archives - 1841 census 

 

 



For the year 1842-43, a new lease was issued to George Latham on a similar basis to Martha Bratherton 

but on a reduced rent of £7 per year to reflect just over four acres of land which had been given up and 

taken on by Philip Arden of Lighfoot’s Tenement on the far side of Red Lane. Presumably, he kept the land 

closest to his homestead.  

This arrangement with Lord Crewe was on a “Rack” (annual) basis so although subject to termination or 

increase, George continued to pay the £7 a year until he died in 1871. 

 

Crewe Estate Accounts 1842 – Cheshire Archives DCR 59-5 

 

 

Crewe Estate Rentals 1847-1856  – Cheshire Archives DCR 59-2 

 

 

 

 

 



 

It can be seen from the census returns from 1851-1871 that the occupation of the Limekiln tenement 

followed a similar patten to the previous generation in that John Pye the son in law of George Latham 

gradually took over the farm from his in laws in the same way as George Latham did.  

He was given a lease from Lord Crewe in 1875 

 

 

 

 

 

National Archives – Census 1881-1891-1901 

John Pye was possibly acquainted with with his father in law with both of them originating from Hodent in 

Shropshire. He married Margaret Latham in 1853 and remarried in 1880. He last appeared on the electors 

roll at Elton in 1907 then moved to 85 Elton Road, Ettiley Heath, not too far away. In the 1911 census, he 

was still recorded as a farm labourer, probably out of necessity. 

 

 



George Latham and John Pye were perhaps inconsequential small time farmers who just got on with their 

lives. There was though a rather intriguing member of the family at the property until the 1880s and that 

was Hannah. She was probably illegiitmate and the family possibly took steps to try and conceal this 

position. Hannah was baptised at the Sandbach Primitive Methodist Circuit, possibly the Rookery Bridge 

church on the opposite side of the road? 

The record shown below records her as Hannah Latham with parents George and Margaret. So who were 

Hannah’s parents, Margaret Latham or George Latham junior. In the 1851 census she can’t be found but by 

1861 she is back at the property, along with Elizabeth Pye the daughter of John Pye and Margaret although 

her age seems to be fictional. 

Ten years later she is still at the property but has now assumed the surname Pye but by 1881 she has 

resumed the surname Latham and recorded as the Housekeeper to John Pye. 

So, quite a conundrum as to her parentage. She seems to disappear after 1881 but in the 1911 census, 

John Pye states he has two daughters, both living. 

 

Sandbach Primitive Methodist Chapel Baptisms 1849 

John Pye last appears on the votors roll in 1907 and the Crewe Estate records tell us that James 

Hodgkinson moved in from Lady Day of that year 

 

Crewe Accounts 1907-08 

This will have been an important life move for James. James was the son of Joseph Hodgkinson (1828-

1888) a boatman and native of Elton Moss who throughout the years can be found at various places up 

and down the Trent and Mersey Canal whilst his settled home was at one of the cottages on Elton Moss. 

 

Elworth Church Marriages 1892 



James (1866-1927) married Sarah Griffin, the daughter of his next door neighbour, also a boatman in 1892 

and for the next fifteen years they continued to live at Needhams Bank in what was clearly a small perhaps 

self supporting community where the wives raised the family and the husbands were away for days, maybe 

even weeks at a time working the canals. In 1901, there were as many as 20 people living at Needhams 

Bank. 

James did not follow in his fathers footsteps which would normally be the case and he took employment at 

Thomas Vickers’s bone mill at Rookery Bridge so the move would have removed his 10 minute walk to 

work in the morning. By this time, it would have been quite cramped at Needham’s Bank so will have been 

a most welcome move for James and his family to move out. 

 

In his lease, for an annual rent of £25, James had over 9 acres of land so it is perhaps a little surprising that 

in the 1911 census, he was still working at the bone mill. It is unclear how he actually used the land and it 

was probably sublet to one of the local farms.  

 
By the time of the 1921 census, James was back at 
Needham’s Bank but still working at the bone mill 
along with his two sons (He probably spent his 
whole life at the mill). 
 
During the war, Lord Crewe gradually sold off his 
holdings in Elton with two extensive sales.  
 
The property only appeared in the second sale in 
1918 and was sold to Francis J Poole a wealthy 
local solicitor who had married into the Foden 
family. 
 
In general Mr Poole then sold the properties back 
to the tenants however in this case, James 
Hodgkinson was not the purchaser. 
 
James had lost his wife Mary in 1915 and was 
settled in his employment 
 
 It is possible he moved on because he didn’t need 
the land and wanted to “downsize” or indeed he 
simply may have not been able to afford the asking 
price. 
 

 

 
  Crewe Estate Sale 1918 – Lot 6 



 

 

 

Crewe Chronicle – 12th November 1927 

The 1921 census tells us that the new occupier was Arnold Richardson a native of Moston who had been 

born to a large family at the far end of Green Lane. He had settles at Elton Moss Bridge but moved to the 

property at about 1920 still as a tenant of Francis Poole to take over Charles Brereton who had been a 

short term lessee at the property. At the time, he took on 6 acres but this was increased to 7 by the 1930s. 

At some time during this period, Arnold purchased the property outright from Mr Poole. 



 

National Census 1921- Rookery Bridge 

 

Congleton Borough Council – Tithe Rent Charges 1936 

 

In his youth, Arnold learnt the trade of a joiner and this skill was to eventually earn him employment at 

Fordon’s works at Elworth, hence the move to Elton Moss Bridge. It can be seen that by 1939 he was 

adapting these skills as an wagon body builder whilst his younger son was also employed at the factory.  

 

When Arnold died, it was his neighbour Thomas Howarth who moved to the property almost certainly on a 

private transaction with the estate. He had been living in the area for quite some time as his entry also 

shows in the 1939 register next to the Richardsons 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Chronological List of Owners and Occupiers 

 

 

 

1840 Tithe Map Apportionments 

 

 

 

 

 


